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          1  COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you for

          3  joining us this afternoon. My name is David Yassky.

          4  This is a hearing of the City Council Committee on

          5  Waterfronts, and the topic for today's hearing is

          6  illegal dumping and the effect of illegal dumping

          7  pollution on New York City waterways.

          8                 This Committee has received reports

          9  over the past year from community activists, from

         10  environmental advocates, and simply from people of

         11  goodwill who care about the health of New York

         12  Harbor about illegal dumping throughout New York

         13  Harbor, including the Bronx River, Coney Island

         14  Creek, Gowanus Canal and Newtown Creek. And when I

         15  say illegal dumping the materials that have been

         16  reported to this Committee include, that have been

         17  observed in the waterways, include automobiles,

         18  motor oil, scrap metal, liquid cement, gravel and

         19  other pollutants.

         20                 The question before the Committee

         21  today is what are we doing as a City and as a State

         22  to combat illegal dumping. At first blush, and I

         23  hope this hearing will shed light on this, but

         24  certainly at first blush it appears that the

         25  enforcement resources are far too little to be up to
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          2  the task.

          3                 The State Department of Environmental

          4  Conservation, which is the primary enforcement

          5  agency, has only one environmental enforcement

          6  officer for every 400 square miles of New York

          7  State, and the enforcement resources devoted to

          8  illegal dumping have been cut in half over the past

          9  ten years. Cut in half. The same is true for New

         10  York City that in the past two years, the City

         11  budget, devoted to anti-dumping enforcement,

         12  according to our Finance Office here in the Council,

         13  has also been cut in half. And there are now two

         14  officers in the Department of Small Business

         15  Services responsible for the entire 587 miles of New

         16  York City waterfront. It may surprise some people in

         17  the audience to know that it is the Department of

         18  Small Business Services that is responsible for

         19  enforcing the City rules against illegal dumping.

         20                 And there are, I believe, we look

         21  forward to the Administration and the witnesses,

         22  correct me if I'm wrong here, but I am told that we

         23  have two people responsible for the entire harbor.

         24                 When polluters are identified, and

         25  punished, the punishments appear to be quite light.
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          2  The average DEC fine is under $4,000. Under $4,000.

          3  That's essentially a parking ticket for a company

          4  that is making pollution, it's a way of doing

          5  business, and that certainly is not going to go

          6  anywhere near offsetting the benefits that they are

          7  presumably, that presumably accrue to them from

          8  polluting. A single $4,000 fine is not going to stop

          9  it.

         10                 And the goal of course has got to be

         11  to prevent the pollution in the first place. I mean,

         12  this is the classic case of an ounce of prevention

         13  being worth a pound of cure. Once we allow our

         14  waterways to be fouled as we've seen, it takes years

         15  and years, decades, in truth, and millions upon

         16  millions of dollars to clean them up.

         17                 So, the enforcement agenda has got to

         18  be aggressive.

         19                 I want to be clear that it is

         20  certainly not the intention of this Committee,

         21  certainly not my intention, and I don't think the

         22  intention of anybody in this Committee, to beat up

         23  on waterfront industries. By and large, the folks

         24  who are doing business on New York City waterfront,

         25  I believe, are wholly respectful of the law and of
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          2  the environment. But there is no doubt, or at this

          3  point with the evidence we're going to hear, and we

          4  will be hearing today from environmental advocates,

          5  and I think the evidence that they are going to

          6  bring to bear will leave you with very little doubt

          7  that there is a widespread problem with illegal

          8  dumping and a few bad apples can cause an enormous

          9  amount of rot.

         10                 So, we have got, my goal in this

         11  Committee, in this hearing, rather, is to lay out

         12  the case for a much more aggressive and well-funded

         13  enforcement agenda.

         14                 If there are no other opening

         15  statements, let us then get right to work, and we

         16  will hear from, we have here Todd Kuznitz, the

         17  Director of Enforcement in the Department of

         18  Sanitation. Tom, I'm sorry is it Milore or Milora?

         19                 MR. MILORA: Milora.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Milora. Executive

         21  Assistant to the Commissioner of the New York City

         22  Department of Sanitation. Andrew Schwartz, Deputy

         23  Commissioner of the Department of Small Business

         24  Services, and that is who we have here representing

         25  the Administration.
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          2                 If you would, we're going to limit

          3  our testimony today to four minutes a witness.

          4                 We have other witnesses following

          5  you, including folks who will be able to talk about

          6  the pollution that they have witnessed, and, so,

          7  what I would like to do is we have your written

          8  statement. We will read that in its entirety into

          9  the record. I will ask you to limit the written

         10  statement -- the oral statements to four minutes in

         11  the case of all witnesses testifying today, so that

         12  we can get through the entire agenda and get to

         13  questions.

         14                 Mr. Schwartz, is that you who is

         15  testifying?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         17  Yes, it is, Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. Please

         19  go right ahead.

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         21  Good afternoon, Chairman Yassky, and members of the

         22  Waterfront Committee. I'm Andrew Schwartz, Deputy

         23  Commissioner for the Department of Small Business

         24  Services. The mission of our agency is to make it

         25  easier for companies in New York City to form, do
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          2  business and grow by providing direct assistance to

          3  business owners, fostering neighborhood development

          4  in commercial districts, promoting financial and

          5  economic opportunity among minority and woman-owned

          6  businesses, preparing New Yorkers for jobs and

          7  linking employers with a skilled and qualified

          8  workforce.

          9                 In addition, as a successor agency to

         10  some of the functions of the former Department of

         11  Ports and Trade, SBS also has jurisdiction for

         12  waterfront permitting and inspection of certain

         13  waterfront property.

         14                 In this context, SBS inspects

         15  properties for hazardous conditions, monitors

         16  properties for compliance with construction permits,

         17  issues notices of violation and summonses for

         18  violations, assists in the abatement of hazardous

         19  conditions through fencing and interagency

         20  coordination, monitors the waterfront for illegal

         21  docking, orders removal of submerged or sunkin

         22  vessels, maintains waterfront permit and property

         23  records, works with other City agencies on

         24  transfers, leasing and permitting of City-owned

         25  waterfront property.
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          2                 In addition to routine inspections,

          3  recently SBS achieved removal of the Cardigan, a

          4  former Coast Guard cutter that had remained sunk

          5  along the waterfront in Sheepshead Bay, and a second

          6  smaller vessel that was also sunk there in Brooklyn.

          7                 We're enforcing a violation for a

          8  submerged boat in Red Hook, Brooklyn, and

          9  investigating the illegal docking of the Atlantic

         10  Queen in Mill Basin.

         11                 As necessary, vacate orders for

         12  property with unsafe conditions have been issued and

         13  enforced.

         14                 Violations have been issued for

         15  unpermitted construction work and related violations

         16  in all five boroughs, and through a State grant we

         17  have consolidated and organized decades of the

         18  City's waterfront permit records.

         19                 In these actions SBS works closely

         20  with other property management agencies, notably the

         21  economic development corporation, and the Department

         22  of Citywide Administrative Services.

         23                 The agency also works with the

         24  Department of Buildings on issues involving

         25  structural violations in permitting, and EDC's
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          2  property management division manages a substantial

          3  portfolio of waterfront properties under City

          4  jurisdiction.

          5                 They rely on the SBS dock master unit

          6  for identification of hazards.

          7                 Essentially, the issue today in a

          8  proposed bill relate to a provision of law dating

          9  from a period of the working waterfront in New York

         10  City.

         11                 The concern with water quality and

         12  pollutants being dispersed into waterways is now

         13  generally covered through the efforts of the City's

         14  Department of Environmental Protection, the State

         15  Department of Environmental Conservation, the United

         16  States Coast Guard and Army Corps of Engineers.

         17                 As described above, the resources of

         18  the SBS dock master unit are essentially focused on

         19  hazardous conditions and structures among buildings,

         20  bulkheads, piers and vessels.

         21                 As noted by examining related

         22  sections of Title 22 of the City Administrative

         23  Code, when read in context the provisions refer to

         24  waterfront property, and address issues of abandoned

         25  and deteriorating structures, piers, wharfs, sheds
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          2  and ships, and the types of conditions encountered

          3  in loading and unloading of ships.

          4                 The particular provision of 22-112,

          5  which is the subject of Intro. 500, though available

          6  for incidents of dumping refuse, is an older section

          7  of law that has been effectively superseded by a

          8  panoply of federal, state and City regulation

          9  governing maintenance of water quality, water

         10  pollution control, abatement of illegal discharges

         11  and appropriate permitting of industrial waste.

         12                 Should SBS inspectors observe an

         13  emission into the water, they lack the technical

         14  expertise to analyze the effluent, determine its

         15  hazardous condition or to subpoena property owners.

         16                 SBS inspectors do serve violations

         17  when conditions warrant or illegal activity is

         18  observed. The agency will certainly refer matters to

         19  appropriate enforcement agencies when necessary.

         20                 Specifically matters involving

         21  dumping on waterfront property will be coordinated

         22  with the Department of Sanitation, and dumping in

         23  the waterways to the Department of Environmental

         24  Protection.

         25                 At this point I'd be happy to answer
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          2  questions.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, thank you.

          4  So, let me see if I understand this. Illegal

          5  dumping. Let's take a hypothetical example, let's

          6  say there's a company or an entity that's releasing

          7  liquid cement and cement wash effluent from a cement

          8  manufacturing process, directly into the East River

          9  or Newtown Creek or Flushing Bay, directly into a

         10  New York City waterway, who's job is it in the City

         11  government to stop that from happening?

         12                 Did I understand you to say that's

         13  not your job?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         15  would say if it involves the analysis of what's

         16  going into the water, or an emission into the water,

         17  I generally think that's one of the environmental

         18  agencies, whether it's DEC or DEP, Coast Guard, I

         19  don't know where one of their agency's jurisdiction

         20  begins and ends, but it would be in that area.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is there someone

         22  here from DEP with you today?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         24  No, I don't think anyone from DEP is at this table.

         25  My understanding is they were not invited to today's
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          2  hearing.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is somebody from

          4  DEP here today that can answer the question?

          5                 Let's be honest, I was told by the

          6  Administration that this was, you know, you're the

          7  agency with enforcement responsibility here, if it's

          8  somebody else, let's talk to whoever is in charge.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         10  think the bulk of what I'm saying relates to, our

         11  unit looking at the hazardous conditions in

         12  structures. We issue permits.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm talking about

         14  illegal dumping. Whose responsibility is it within

         15  the City to identify and punish polluters?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         17  Well, when you say polluters, we are not an

         18  environmental protection agency. I don't think we

         19  are going to move into that area or be able to

         20  duplicate the work of those agencies.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That's not your

         22  job.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         24  Not in terms of pollution, I would say.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes, the
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          2  provision of the administrative code that you

          3  referred to as being outdated, that is enforced by

          4  DSBS, am I right?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          6  We have issued, you know, if the inspectors observe

          7  generally some type of garbage being thrown in, but

          8  if we're talking about actual, a pollutant, I know

          9  that your intro adds I think hazardous conditions

         10  and then there's a provision about remediation. I

         11  think that's going well beyond the scope of anything

         12  the agency is really designed to handle, and

         13  remediation of environmental conditions is clearly

         14  something within the realm of another agency's

         15  jurisdiction.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Forget

         17  remediation just for a minute. I'm just sticking on

         18  the very narrow question of sanctions and

         19  punishments.

         20                 You're saying you do not have the

         21  authority to find a company in the situation I had

         22  described earlier, that releasing liquid cement,

         23  cement wash, directly into New York Harbor?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         25  It's possible under 22-112 that depending on what
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          2  was going on, there could be a violation there. I

          3  don't think it's probably --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'll tell you,

          5  it's my belief, from reading the plain words of it,

          6  that you do.

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          8  Yes, what I'm saying, however, with our resources

          9  focused on the hazardous conditions, and the fact

         10  that to my knowledge that statute was last looked at

         11  in 1937 and may go back even further under the old

         12  Department of Docks, which was a predecessor even to

         13  the Department of Ports and Trade.

         14                 I think this whole area, obviously

         15  where it's become the concern of pollution has been,

         16  as I say, effectively superseded by a whole range of

         17  the laws that address those situations, and try to

         18  turn 22-112 into a linchpin for that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I don't want to

         20  waste time of people in the audience here, so

         21  knowing that the topic of the hearing is illegal

         22  dumping and having had forwarded to you a draft

         23  report of the Committee that details instances of

         24  illegal dumping, why didn't you bring here to talk

         25  to us today somebody who is in a position to talk
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          2  about that?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          4  Chairman, I did not receive a draft copy of a

          5  report, for one thing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: The Office of

          7  Legislative Affairs has, and I can tell you that

          8  we've been told many times don't deal directly with

          9  the agencies. They want us to deal with the Office

         10  of Legislative Affairs.

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         12  appreciate that. And as I say, it hasn't been sent

         13  to us. From experience with some Council hearings,

         14  we don't know exactly the realm of questioning. I

         15  did see that you had Intro. 500 on the agenda, which

         16  I'm trying to address in the sense that I don't

         17  think it's the right direction to go in terms of

         18  amending the Administrative Code to address these

         19  kind of conditions.

         20                 But as far as our invitation, that's

         21  why we came here.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Does anybody here

         23  at the table know whether DEP ever issues violations

         24  for the types of activity I described a minute ago?

         25  Let's take that hypothetical, releasing, you know,
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          2  liquid cement, cement wash directly into the harbor,

          3  untreated? Just period, a pipe running right out

          4  from the factory right into the water? Is anybody in

          5  the City responsible for punishing those folks?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          7  No.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         10  don't think that's what we're saying at all. I think

         11  there is enforcement of that type of activity. As I

         12  say to you, I wouldn't want to speculate whether

         13  it's DEP or DEC in that situation. I know DEP does

         14  have abatement activities of various types of

         15  pollution. I think emissions into the waterway come

         16  under one of those environmental agencies.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Let me ask you

         18  this: I'm told, as far back as the summer, I believe

         19  in July, some of the environmental advocates gave

         20  DSBS a list of sites that they believed to be the

         21  source of pollution. And indeed, if I recall

         22  correctly, I actually went out with the Commissioner

         23  of your agency to look at a couple of these sites.

         24  But what did you do with that information?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:
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          2  That was in late July. Commissioner Walsh, at the

          3  invitation of the Kings County District Attorney,

          4  went on the boat on Newtown Creek, in order to

          5  provide information on City-owned sites nearby.

          6                 Subsequent to that, though, our unit

          7  has worked with RiverKeepers in late September for a

          8  number of more specific locations, and they are

          9  looking at the ones that involve, as I say, things

         10  under our jurisdiction. There are a number of

         11  deteriorating bulkheads and piers that they are

         12  obtaining the ownership information. And certainly

         13  that's within our jurisdiction that we are going to

         14  follow up and enforce those violations.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And as far as the

         16  release of the pollutants, the claims about release

         17  of pollutants, what did you do with those claims?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         19  That's something we are going to work with other

         20  agencies on, to find the --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, in the four

         22  months since that boat trip, what have you done

         23  actually with that information?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         25  The Dock Master Unit has been involved in getting
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          2  further information about the specific sites, block

          3  and lot information.

          4                 We only deal in Criminal Court

          5  violations, too. So, it's not easy for us to --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: The Dock Master

          7  is DSBS?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          9  Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. So, bear

         11  with me. So, four months ago when, you know, I and

         12  other folks went out on the boat with the people

         13  from your agency and said here are sites that we

         14  think that it looks like there's pollution coming

         15  from, you know, you're the agency in charge, since

         16  then the Dock Master has been gathering information

         17  as to whether there really is pollution coming from

         18  there.

         19                 Is there a possibility of enforcement

         20  at the end of that process or not? Because if not,

         21  then that would be a waste of time.

         22                 And if so --

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         24  No, I'm not saying that. I'm saying they are looking

         25  to enforce violations within their jurisdiction.
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          2                 Four months ago, what they got was a

          3  general overview. No real -- you could not identify

          4  locations. What they have done is, since then, in

          5  late September, though, they are coordinating with

          6  RiverKeepers to get more specific information on

          7  those sites, and since that time they have

          8  identified more of the ownership issues, and are

          9  going forward with enforcement of those conditions.

         10  So, no, I would not say that's a waste of time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And enforcement

         12  might pertain to, what kind of behavior might you

         13  try and penalize people for engaging in?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         15  Some of the items pointed out to us by RiverKeeper

         16  involved deteriorating bulkheads.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         19  Where the potential for a piece of concrete could

         20  come off into the water. There is fencing needed at

         21  the end say of Meeker Avenue and Morgan, collapsed

         22  and failing bulkheads, and a vessel that's illegally

         23  berthed. Now, that's something, too, that they would

         24  serve a violation for, as I mentioned in my

         25  testimony.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: But a pipe that's

          3  releasing toxic chemicals into the water, that would

          4  not be in your jurisdiction?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          6  Well, again, when you say a pipe releasing toxic

          7  chemicals, our agency, again, they don't have that

          8  technical expertise to identify --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And what would

         10  you do with that?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         12  Just one moment.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         15  Even on the -- you know, the RiverKeepers' indicator

         16  or DEP, has outfalls that are legal. I mean, our

         17  people cannot determine an illegal outfall from an

         18  illegal one essentially, or what the effluent is.

         19  It's just not in their area of technical expertise

         20  or training.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. What do you

         22  do then with that claim of a violation?

         23                 I mean, if a complaint is brought to

         24  you by a citizen that there is what appears to be an

         25  illegal outfall releasing chemicals, who do you tell
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          2  about that?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          4  We would coordinate with the environmental agency,

          5  the Department of Environmental Protection.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You would send

          7  that over to DEP?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          9  Obviously, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Because

         11  obviously, I intend, as soon as there is a hearing

         12  date available, to schedule another hearing, get

         13  them in here and then I'm going to ask them what

         14  they've done with that information that you've given

         15  to them and the referrals you've made to them, which

         16  I gather you have.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         18  Well, aside from this incident I'm not aware that we

         19  have been receiving complaints on illegal emissions

         20  into the waterways. I mean, people just do not tend

         21  to come to SBS with that type of complaint.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You referred this

         23  one to DEP?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         25  think the Dock Master has coordinated with DEP.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

          3                 Gale Brewer. Council Member Brewer,

          4  to ask questions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Gale is fine.

          6  I like Gale. I prefer the informality, as you know.

          7                 Andrew, I have a question.

          8                 The fact of the matter is that I'm

          9  late, so I didn't hear your testimony, but I looked

         10  at it, and just standing back, this is the part I

         11  don't understand. I have great respect for the

         12  employment centers and the support that SBS gives to

         13  some businesses in our City. Am I missing something?

         14  Don't you want to get out of the enforcement? Isn't

         15  it strange to maybe be helping a business expand and

         16  helping employees get jobs in that area, or with

         17  that business, and at the same time working on

         18  pollution? So, maybe we should take that function

         19  away and give it to the agencies, DEP and

         20  Sanitation?

         21                 I would not have thought to call your

         22  agency on a problem like this. Maybe I'm missing

         23  something.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         25  appreciate the question. In fact, as I said in my
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          2  testimony, the creation of business services in 1991

          3  consolidated a number of different offices, I'd say

          4  included only a portion of the functions of what was

          5  then the Department of Ports and Trade, also market

          6  property.

          7                 Now, what we had a couple of years

          8  ago, because our Director of Security Enforcement

          9  also oversaw public market regulation. Now that

         10  piece, in fact, a couple of years ago in 2001 with a

         11  Charter Change, that was moved to the Organized

         12  Crime Control Commission, which is now the Business

         13  Integrity Commission.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         16  Right. And maybe that is a starting off point to

         17  recognize that we need to look at another direction

         18  for the waterfront jurisdiction. Maybe there are

         19  appropriate locations for either the permitting or

         20  the regulation.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

         22                 Mr. Chair, I'm saying that might be

         23  something to work with, to move those functions.

         24                 Because if you're a small business

         25  and you're trying to expand, to have one person from
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          2  SBS talk to you about expansion, and then another

          3  figure out if they should be fining you for whatever

          4  you're doing in the waterways is a conflict of

          5  interest, period.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes. You know, I

          7  could not agree with you more, Council member.

          8                 At first impression, certainly this

          9  enforcement responsibility, which I think the SBS

         10  had, and if not, if I'm incorrect then that's one

         11  thing, but it was my understand this was the SBS

         12  enforcement responsibility, does not fit in with

         13  anything else in the mission. I could not agree with

         14  you more.

         15                 And, so, it would not surprise me if

         16  it winds up being not aggressively executed.

         17                 So, I think that is, one thing that

         18  might come from this hearing would be a sense that

         19  this is enforcement responsibility that should be

         20  moved elsewhere.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Council Member

         24  Addabbo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair, and Mr. Schwartz and the panel for their

          3  time and testimony.

          4                 Mr. Chair, I appreciate you having

          5  this hearing today, because what I think it has

          6  shown is such a complicated issue obviously needs

          7  clarification on the roles and jurisdiction of

          8  agencies and Administration, as far as monitoring,

          9  as far as issuing violations.

         10                 Mr. Schwartz, again, I appreciate

         11  your time and your testimony.

         12                 As far as what SBS is doing as far as

         13  their monitoring, within their jurisdiction, and I

         14  know some of the numbers were thrown out in Mr.

         15  Chair's opening statement, let's go over again,

         16  those who do monitor within your agency, how many

         17  people actually -- how many personnel are actually

         18  responsible for monitoring?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         20  Well, on waterfront-related work we have a staff of

         21  seven that's assisted by the Legal Division, and

         22  administrative division, but there are three law

         23  enforcement personnel that are involved in these

         24  inspections.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Are the seven
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          2  actually out there?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          4  No.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: How many?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          7  Three.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Three.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         10  That are special patrolmen with law enforcement

         11  ability to issue summonses.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And their

         13  role, how are they allocated amongst the boroughs?

         14  Do they just, again, do they go on patrol or how --

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         16  They do random inspection of the boroughs.

         17                 And you have to realize, a lot of the

         18  property on the waterfront is City-owned. So, we do

         19  have close relations, as I mentioned, with all the

         20  agencies that have property on the waterfront, and

         21  there are quite a few, DEP, DCAS, DOC, so access to

         22  those sites, or hazardous conditions on those sites

         23  are easier to address. So, over time they tend to

         24  focus on certain privately-held locations around the

         25  City.
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          2                 They're not assigned

          3  borough-by-borough.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay, do we

          5  have any information regarding, a breakdown for each

          6  borough regarding violations that have been issued

          7  in the past?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          9  We could get that.

         10                 Most of these are for unpermitted

         11  construction work, or illegal docking types of

         12  violations. They're not for, generally for the

         13  pollutants.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Again, the

         15  complicated issue being illegal dumping, like say

         16  illegal docking and so forth, these are waterfront

         17  issues and this being the Waterfront Committee, if

         18  we can get the information regarding the breakdown

         19  of the violations you're agency is issued at least,

         20  as a starting point.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         22  Sure.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: To break

         24  down, obviously, by borough where those violations

         25  have been issued, and then obviously we'd like to
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          2  see how the three individuals who are responsible

          3  for monitoring and inspecting, see how they

          4  integrate with those numbers.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

          7                 Council Member Gonzalez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Good

          9  afternoon, Commissioner.

         10                 This may not be your jurisdiction,

         11  and I apologized because I walked in a little late,

         12  but in 2001, I believe, or 2002, in Sunset Park

         13  there was a ship which the name -- I'm not going to

         14  mention the name, but there was a spill, an oil

         15  spill, and the fish were affected, and I guess my

         16  question is, it's not your jurisdiction, and

         17  immediately, it probably was an accident, it was not

         18  probably something that was done illegally,

         19  intended, but who would be the people, and how would

         20  -- your special patrol, were they involved in that,

         21  or would they be called in? I want to understand.

         22  Because I know that the fishing area was affected

         23  and the fish and it was a big issue for the

         24  community board and my community in Sunset Park?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2  don't remember the particular incident,

          3  Councilwoman. I do know, such as the work we were

          4  doing in Sheepshead Bay with the Carrigan

          5  (phonetic), where there was some oil still remaining

          6  in that boat, the Coast Guard came out and set up a

          7  boom around that area to contain the oil.

          8                 And generally speaking, I've spoken

          9  with Coast Guard personnel, I know they are involved

         10  in oil spills containment, remediation and

         11  collecting actually damages from people who cause

         12  that.

         13                 So, there's a federal fund set up

         14  that they tap into that, and my inclination is to

         15  believe that the Coast Guard would be the first

         16  place to go with that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Meaning it

         18  would be a Coast Guard?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         20  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Okay, thank

         22  you.

         23                 Thank you, Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You were invited

         25  here to testify by a letter that asked you to come
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          2  testify at a hearing, quote, on the problem of

          3  illegal dumping in New York City waterways; is that

          4  correct?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

          6  don't have the letter in front of me, but I --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: This was

          8  following an outting with the Commissioner of your

          9  agency, focused specifically on the question of

         10  polluters on the waterways.

         11                 So, here is my question: Do you know,

         12  and you were invited here to testify as a

         13  representative of the Bloomberg Administration, do

         14  you know how many fines were handed out in the last

         15  year for illegal dumping by the Bloomberg

         16  Administration?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         18  Which question, Mr. Chairman?

         19                 We did get the letter to come and

         20  testify, as I say. We saw Intro. 500 was directed

         21  with increased administrative provisions for our

         22  agency, so that was generally one of the things we

         23  were going to testify on. And, again, the

         24  information from RiverKeepers has been helpful, as I

         25  say specifically on identifying hazardous
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          2  conditions. It was not my understanding that we were

          3  to be engaged in pollution remediation. That I will

          4  say, though.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Do you know how

          6  many fines have been handed out for illegal dumping

          7  by the Administration in the past year, year and a

          8  half, two years, three years?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         10  By the Administration? I think you would probably

         11  need, if we're talking dumping, we would probably

         12  need information from a number of agencies to really

         13  get the full universe.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: By you --

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         16  By our agency?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         19  It's probably eight to ten in that area, fines of

         20  about $500 to $1,000 in Criminal Court.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And those would

         22  be for bulkheads falling into the water and that

         23  sort of thing?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         25  As I say, unpermitted work. In some cases refuse in
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          2  the water. I mean, again, when we had the markets

          3  with us up to a couple of years ago, we had more

          4  agencies, we were also looking at water areas nearby

          5  the public markets that were on the waterfront. So,

          6  it's gone through a transition. This unit.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Just since they

          8  happen to be here, has the Department of Sanitation

          9  handed out any fines for illegal dumping in the

         10  water?

         11                 MR. MILORA: No, we haven't received

         12  any complaints about illegal dumping in the water.

         13                 We do issue many violations for

         14  illegal dumping in general. We impounded over 300

         15  vehicles the last two years, but we haven't received

         16  anything specifically on illegal dumping in the

         17  water.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: All right. So, we

         19  have none from Sanitation. Eight to ten violations

         20  from DSBS for things from unpermitted work to

         21  bulkheads in disrepair, and possibly even discharge

         22  refuse. And those fines range around $500. And if

         23  there is any further enforcement activity, I guess

         24  it would be from DEP, so we will have to ask them

         25  for that; is that a fair summary? I think it is.
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          3  Between Sanitation and here, perhaps. But DEP can

          4  respond definitely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. All right.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 You know, I'm going to ask, if you

          8  would, to stay, because we're going to hear from

          9  RiverKeeper about some very specific episodes that

         10  they have tried to get enforcement or response to,

         11  and I just would like to make sure whether any of

         12  this is in your jurisdiction or not, and if not,

         13  we'll never need to trouble you again in this

         14  Committee. I promise you.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         16  Well, I would just say we fully support a clean

         17  waterfront, clean waterways. I'm sure everybody here

         18  does, and in the Administration, and we're happy to

         19  get hopefully a full copy of this report and the

         20  information contained in it, to review and be

         21  helpful where SBS can or I'm sure where Sanitation

         22  can be as well.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I have no doubt

         24  that in your heart you support the goal of clean

         25  water. We sent, just in terms of the full report,

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2  you can get it from your intergovernmental office,

          3  we gave it to them last week.

          4                 What I would say, though, is that to

          5  come to a hearing on illegal dumping, without the

          6  person, without the agency responsible for

          7  enforcement, if there is such a one, it may well be

          8  that, I'm curious to see if DEP comes and says it's

          9  not our issue too, then we know we really got a

         10  problem, but I think to come to the hearing without

         11  that does not reflect a commitment to pursuing the

         12  goal of clean water. It does not.

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         14  Again, I think we are trying to be helpful on the

         15  Intro. Legislation, I think as Council Member

         16  Addabbo has pointed out the complexity of what

         17  you're talking about, going into the water, which

         18  agency may have responsibility, there are different

         19  types of jurisdiction on this issue, and I hope it

         20  does get sorted out. But I will say, it's my

         21  understanding we did not get a copy of this report

         22  either, to us or to -- I'm say Leg Affairs did not

         23  get it as well, is my understanding.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, I'm not

         25  inclined to spend hearing time on that topic. I will
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          2  simply say that I was informed by my very reliable

          3  staff that we e-mailed a copy of our report to your

          4  Department of Legislative Affairs last week.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          7  Okay. We will have an opportunity to see it, in any

          8  event it is out there. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Next I would like

         10  to hear from, this Committee will hear from, Basil

         11  Seggos representing RiverKeeper, Ludger Balan,

         12  representing Urban Divers Estuary Conservancy, and

         13  Diane Reinhardt, as well, from Urban Divers, and

         14  Laura Hofmann from Barge Park. And I'm sorry, Teresa

         15  Crimmens also from Bronx River Alliance.

         16                 Mr. Seggos, please, why don't you

         17  begin.

         18                 MR. SEGGOS: Good afternoon, Council

         19  Member Yassky. Thank you for inviting me to testify

         20  at this hearing.

         21                 My name is Basil Seggos. I'm

         22  RiverKeeper's lead investigator. RiverKeeper is an

         23  environmental group on the Hudson. We've been

         24  prosecuting polluters since 1965, hundreds of cases,

         25  and have been very active in the last two years,
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          2  especially on Midtown Creek.

          3                 We wholeheartedly endorse Intro. 500.

          4  I think it's clear, obviously, that there is a lack

          5  of enforcement Citywide at this point. There's a

          6  lack of deterrence. And fines are the first place to

          7  start, increasing fines.

          8                 I think that we certainly will agree

          9  that perhaps the responsibility of SBS pertaining to

         10  waterfronts need to be shifted in the long term to

         11  the right agency. But I think at this point I think

         12  the law itself at a minimum to deter those violators

         13  of waterfront, existing waterfront laws and the

         14  safety of structures.

         15                 Let me first just say that obviously

         16  there is a harbor renaissance underway.  You have

         17  increased water quality. You've got increased use,

         18  increased public access, and certainly in the last

         19  30 years of the Clean Water Act, the federal Clean

         20  Water Act, the harbors are a lot better.

         21                 There are two checks in the Harbor.

         22  The first is the sewage problem, well publicized.

         23  The second is, as a condition of it, the Harbor's

         24  tributaries. They've sort of forgotten invisible

         25  tributaries that form I think probably the majority
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          2  of the Harbor's pollution problems. I'm talking

          3  about Newtown Creek, the Gowanus Canal, Coney Island

          4  Creek, and the conditions on these waterways, you

          5  have to see it to believe it, because it is as if

          6  you go up a creek and you step back in time.

          7                 And very little attention has been

          8  paid over the years to these waterways. In my

          9  submitted testimony, I detail a number of problems

         10  on Newtown Creek, and several that we've seen on the

         11  Gowanus, although I'll defer to Ludger on the

         12  Gowanus. But I think what you have to think about

         13  Citywide are hundreds of pollution sources that

         14  persist remarkably, lots of major pollution sources

         15  that persist on these forgotten waterways.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry, I

         17  don't want to interrupt you, but do you have -- do

         18  you submit a copy, you said, of your written

         19  testimony?

         20                 MR. SEGGOS: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Did you give that

         22  to Council staff here?

         23                 MR. SEGGOS: Yes. I think it's being

         24  handed out right now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, terrific.
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          2  Thank you very much.

          3                 MR. SEGGOS: I'll just give you a

          4  couple quick highlights, because I know my time is

          5  limited.

          6                 There's a scrapyard on the English

          7  Kill section of Newtown Creek that overloads its

          8  barges on a constant basis. We've been up the creek

          9  a hundred times, a hundred patrols up the creek, and

         10  every time up the creek we see a new problem at this

         11  site.

         12                 And for that matter, we see a new

         13  problem on Newtown Creek every time we go up the

         14  Creek.

         15                 There's another soil recycler that

         16  had been loading piles of soil close to the

         17  waterfront, and we responded immediately to that

         18  with notice of intent to sue after alerting the DEC

         19  and achieved a measure of compliance, and it's

         20  literally on and on, as you travel up the creek,

         21  probably 30 or 40 pollution sites that are in need

         22  of concerted City, federal and State attention.

         23                 Why do we care about this? Well, I

         24  think it pays to think about the conditions of the

         25  waterways, to the broken windows theory. You have a
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          2  lot of broken windows, you have no cop on the beat,

          3  you have an attitude of total non-compliance, so the

          4  feeling that anything goes in these waterways, so I

          5  think to really appropriately look at how best to

          6  achieve compliance, you have to start with the

          7  State's problem, and the State has got a major

          8  problem enforcing their own laws. Their budgets have

          9  been slashed, and the same goes for the federal

         10  agencies. So, if I can finish, the City is obviously

         11  dealing with some jurisdictional and staff and

         12  resources problems, but the City has got to take a

         13  lead and take control of its waterfront to really

         14  take back control of these polluted sources.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you

         16  very much. It should go without saying, maybe it

         17  doesn't so I'll say it anyway, that in addition to

         18  your testimony, I thank you really, as much as I

         19  possibly can on behalf of the people that I

         20  represent, for the work that you're doing to keep

         21  their water clean. Thank you.

         22                 I think your broken windows, I very

         23  much like the broken windows community policing

         24  analogy. Before you even get to community policing,

         25  though, you have to respond to the 9-1-1 calls. Let
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          2  me just ask you about that.

          3                 How many possible pollution

          4  violations have you reported to DEC and City

          5  agencies over the last year? And I mean, or

          6  instances, episodes that you believe, to be

          7  pollution, to be instances in which people are

          8  polluting? Is it, you know, five, ten, 50? What's

          9  the ball park number?

         10                 MR. SEGGOS: We've reported dozens of

         11  pollution cases to the State, and this is true

         12  really Hudson River-wide. We do most of our work on

         13  the Hudson River, and we have a policy of reporting

         14  a problem to the State to create a record, when our

         15  resources permit to do such. And if we're able to

         16  follow up with the State to find out what happens to

         17  the case, great. But what has limited us in the past

         18  in our relationship with the state, has been lack of

         19  communication. So, we'll pass the case along, and

         20  the case sort of disappears into the ether in a way.

         21  Sometimes we see an improvement, most times we see

         22  continued pollution problems. I think again that

         23  goes to the City's, to the State's resources.

         24                 Now, as to the City, in our reports

         25  to the City, it really wasn't until July that I even
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          2  realized that the Department of Small Business

          3  Services had a law that pertained to the waterfront.

          4  In fact, the day that we had Small Business

          5  Services, you and others on the boat, to look at the

          6  conditions on Newtown Creek, that was the first

          7  series of reports that I had sent to the City, if

          8  you could call it that.

          9                 They were great in following up with

         10  us, and their staff, I got to say, are very

         11  dedicated and talented. They joined as SBS had said

         12  earlier in his testimony. They joined us in late

         13  September, we spent a day or so on Newtown Creek and

         14  probably passed along 15 to 20 pollution sites,

         15  stemming from collapsing bulkheads, as described, to

         16  these cement plants that are of constant problem.

         17  And I'm not -- at this point I'm not prepared to

         18  criticize the handling of it, but they've actually

         19  done a good job of at least responding to us, which

         20  is more than what we usually get from the State. But

         21  at this point I could say probably several dozen in

         22  the last year to the State and then probably about

         23  20 or so to the City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You know, my

         25  colleagues, I realize I got a little bit ahead of
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          2  myself. Why don't we just have the very brief

          3  statements from the rest of the panel and we'll

          4  question them all together. So, why don't we do

          5  that, and I apologize.

          6                 Please go right ahead.

          7                 MR. BALAN: My name is Ludger Balan,

          8  I'm the Environmental Program Director for an

          9  organization called "The Urban Divers Estuary

         10  Conservancy." I thank you all for inviting us here

         11  today to share a little bit of our experiences on

         12  the New York/New Jersey harbor estuary.

         13                 One of the important things that we

         14  felt was necessary to the aspect of trying to

         15  restore New York/New Jersey harbor estuaries was

         16  environmental education, and providing stewardship

         17  opportunities. So, we spent a lot of time in the

         18  water trying to basically educate the public about

         19  the value of this particular ecosystem. And it was

         20  really surprising to us that on our daily journeys

         21  how systematic pollution on the harbor and common

         22  that it was all along the harbor, to where folks

         23  like ours, basically concerned citizens, will be

         24  able to document such an extensive amount of this

         25  particular condition.
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          2                 I brought in a slide presentation

          3  just to give you a little brief of what we have

          4  observed throughout the time that we've been in the

          5  water in 2002 and 2004 at many sites where we

          6  started this program called the New York New Jersey

          7  Harbor Monitoring Project. The slides are Gowanus

          8  Canal and Creek, the Gowanus Canal, Newtown Creek,

          9  Bushwick Inlet, which is not represented here,

         10  Harlem River, Bronx River and the Flushing Creek,

         11  these areas where we have a substantial resource and

         12  we work in the sites with community members.

         13                 For instance, on the Coney Island

         14  Creek, we have a 16-acre site that's owned by

         15  KeySpan. For now over 30 years that particular site

         16  has been discharging contaminants leaching, such as

         17  benzene, into the creek. They were charged to clean

         18  up the site, but we have many questions to if the

         19  charge and the mandate are sufficient enough to

         20  clean the creek itself.

         21                 Beyond that, there's also a

         22  systematic dumping issue that goes on into the

         23  creek. On the first three slides above, those are

         24  heavy debris that we spotted there within the four

         25  years we've been there.
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          2                 Fortunately, in 2004, we got together

          3  with the local community groups there, as well with

          4  the help of civic leaders, and we had the heavy

          5  debris and the carts (sic) removed, but the

          6  floatable debris that's in the water was not

          7  remediated, and a lot of that comes from the

          8  stormwater runoffs and also from people, the

          9  business along the edge of that creek dumping into

         10  the water.

         11                 And now, obviously, a lot of these

         12  areas seem to have a reputation of being a cesspool,

         13  a sewage basin for the City.

         14                 They also persistently try to sustain

         15  themselves as estuaries. Estuaries, as we all know,

         16  is considered sort of like something compared to

         17  rain forests. Okay, within the Coney Island Creek,

         18  even those impacted have still tried to struggle to

         19  provide a habitat for several migrating birds. And

         20  local anglers can catch albacores, and every summer

         21  the hundreds of horseshoe crabs come to the creek to

         22  migrate. As I was saying before DEC charges KeySpan

         23  to clean the site, but once the site is cleaned up,

         24  it's going to be turned into a parking lot for

         25  Sanitation. So, a 16-acre impervious surface will
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          2  further exacerbate the condition of the creek,

          3  because of the runoff that the impervious surface of

          4  a 16-acre lot would discharge into the creek.

          5                 On an outing with an educational

          6  group, one of the things that we teach our folks,

          7  and we educate them about the ecology of the

          8  waterways, and including all of our body waterways,

          9  they all play an important role, we try to

         10  illustrate that within the community. And under

         11  Gowanus Canal, just in 2003 on one occasion somebody

         12  had dumped about, I would have to imagine hundreds

         13  of gallons of this fluorescent paint liquid. We

         14  called the Coast Guard and the DEP, and still today

         15  we have not heard of anything, and we don't even

         16  know if that charge was investigated.

         17                 There's over a dozen of unmarked

         18  drains in the Gowanus Canal, okay? And out of the

         19  maybe over a dozen, maybe about five of those have

         20  been discharging in dry weather, and some of the

         21  photographs here illustrate that.

         22                 As part of the investigation we

         23  noticed that one of the industries, aggregate

         24  industries, built their own, you know, makeshift

         25  drain system to all their aggregate discharges to
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          2  run into the canal. It's very common.

          3                 At one particular site in the Gowanus

          4  Canal, we have thermal discharge. One guy at one

          5  end, the lower slide to the left, he sucks in water

          6  through a hose, okay? This is Gowanus water, to do

          7  whatever he does within the infrastructure, and then

          8  discharges it at another hose, which is in the far

          9  right. Often hotter than the water in the canal

         10  itself.

         11                 The systematic runoff from the

         12  aggregate industries all along the Gowanus Canal, as

         13  well as the Coney Island Creek, the Flushing Creek

         14  and Newtown Creek, we've documented this type of

         15  runoff of sediment of cement running off into the

         16  water.

         17                 And 2004 --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Let me ask you,

         19  how much longer do you have?

         20                 MR. BALAN: How much time do I have?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Why don't you sum

         22  up in the next 30 seconds and we'll do the rest of

         23  the panel, and then we'll ask questions.

         24                 MR. BALAN: Okay, great.

         25                 In 2004, we started investigating the
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          2  environment, and we found that a 30 by 15 yard area

          3  of the Gowanus Canal was completely covered in

          4  gravel, and a 13 by 15 by 20 yard was completely

          5  caked in this sedimented runoff, because of the

          6  sedimented runoff.

          7                 One slide is filling in the canal

          8  because of the aggregate that's falling off the edge

          9  of his bulkhead and now filling in this basin.

         10                 In 2002, we had a monitoring vessel

         11  that can navigate through this body of water, but in

         12  2004 this was no longer possible.

         13                 You can see a lot of the companies

         14  put their debris so far to the edge of the water,

         15  that with windfall, with the advent of wind and

         16  rain, all that debris does run off and falls into

         17  the water.

         18                 And all of these bodies of water do

         19  sustain some level of aquatic life. And of course,

         20  Newtown Creek, the oil issues angling there.

         21                 One of the things we also noticed,

         22  the law enforcement needs to be a little bit more

         23  stricter. This is the filled Dodge site. Now,

         24  they've been charged by DEC to clean out the site,

         25  but notice that the mounds of contaminated soil is
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          2  left uncovered, inexposed to the elements. Several

          3  of the summer storm events, we've watched how the

          4  heavy wind and rain has discharged that type of

          5  floatable debris directly into the water.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Well, thank

          7  you. Let me, because we do have other witnesses,

          8  let's move on and we'll get to the questions as

          9  well.

         10                 Ms. Crimmens, you're testifying for

         11  Bronx River Alliance?

         12                 MS. CRIMMENS: Yes.

         13                 My name is Teresa Crimmens. I'm the

         14  Environmental Coordinator with the Bronx River

         15  Alliance. The Alliance thanks you for inviting us to

         16  testify today. The Alliance is an organization of 70

         17  partner organizations working together to protect

         18  and restore the Bronx River.

         19                 We're deeply concerned about the

         20  issue of illegal dumping that affects the river's

         21  health and its use as a recreational resource.

         22                 The Bronx River suffers continually

         23  from illegal dumping, pretty much everything from

         24  oil to tires to full-sized cars. It does come in

         25  many different shapes and sizes.
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          2                 One of the most surprising examples

          3  that we've heard just generally in the Bronx of

          4  dumping, is a few years ago a man tied a barge

          5  loaded with discarded refuse to a larger existing

          6  abandoned barge in the mouth of the Hutchinson.

          7  Although the dumper's identity was known and was

          8  reported by park advocates, the agency involved,

          9  including the Army Corps of Engineers, could neither

         10  remove the barge nor reprimand the dumper.

         11                 These sorts of things are happening

         12  regularly on the Bronx River end in parks within the

         13  Bronx.

         14                 Currently the relevant environmental

         15  agencies, mainly the Department of Environmental

         16  Conservation and the DEP did not have a reliable

         17  response protocol in place to deal with these

         18  issues.

         19                 At the Alliance we have developed our

         20  own method of spilled protocol that we set into

         21  motion when a spill is reported to us.

         22                 Our protocols deal specifically

         23  normally with spills in terms of liquid contaminants

         24  that go into the water.

         25                 We also have a conservation crew that
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          2  is out on the river every day and removes the larger

          3  debris, things like cars that go into the river.

          4                 Our protocol directs us to alert

          5  those agencies to alert the DEP, the DEP as well as

          6  other divisions in Parks, but as of right now still

          7  an investigation falls largely on the Bronx River

          8  Alliance and Parks, and the agency responses have

          9  been inconsistent and require quite a bit of

         10  follow-up on our part.

         11                 So, I'd like to give you two examples

         12  of issues that have happened. First it's one that

         13  actually worked well. In January of 2003, one of our

         14  partners reported an oil sheen and smell in Muskrat

         15  Cove, which is just north of 233rd Street in the

         16  Bronx.

         17                 That Alliance, set our spill protocol

         18  into progress. We alerted the DEC and other

         19  divisions in Parks. Then at some point it was

         20  determined it may have been in Westchester's

         21  territory. We alerted the Westchester's District

         22  Attorney's Office and they brought in the

         23  Westchester Department of Health.

         24                 After some confusion about the

         25  jurisdiction, they brought in two DEC regions. DEC
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          2  Region 3 spill response did put up a boom that

          3  contained some of the oil which, you know, lessened

          4  the impact downstream.

          5                 The investigation found the problem

          6  was related to a spill of 5,500 gallons of number 2

          7  heating oil, which resulted from Mystic Transports

          8  overfilling of a tank in Mount Vernon.

          9                 So, that sort of did work, in that

         10  people came out to the site and actually did some

         11  sort of action to get rid of the oil or to at least

         12  contain it.

         13                 An example that's a little bit more

         14  frequent is a sort of negative example of a spill

         15  response that didn't work. This happened in April of

         16  2004 at Drew Gardens, which is just south of Tremont

         17  Avenue on the Bronx River.

         18                 The director there reported to us a

         19  smell, a strong owner and sort of a greenish-brown

         20  color of a discharge that seemed to be coming from a

         21  CSO outfall, HP007 during dry weather, which is the

         22  important part.

         23                 When the Alliance first called the

         24  DEC spill hot line, the operator refused to give a

         25  case number, saying the Alliance would have to file
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          2  a Freedom of Information Law request. After a couple

          3  of hours of not hearing back, we called to try to

          4  follow up, and the DEC operator that answered then

          5  asked for our case number, which we didn't have

          6  because the previous operator had refused to give it

          7  to us.

          8                 We eventually figured out that the

          9  first operator just never even filed the complaint

         10  at all. The inspector took several hours to get

         11  there, had difficulty finding the site, even though

         12  an intersection was given in the location of the

         13  outfall. By the time the Inspector arrived the

         14  witnesses were gone, as was most of the discharge.

         15                 Since it was near a CSO, we followed

         16  up again with DEP, and DEP similarly took a long

         17  time to get there and could not find their own

         18  outfall again with the given intersection.

         19                 It just shows sort of the lack of

         20  consistency and attention on behalf of the

         21  authorities to problems that seriously impact the

         22  River's health.

         23                 I'd just like to say that we do

         24  support any sort of change to the Administrative

         25  Code that will impart fines. But we would like to
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          2  say also that in addition to direct dumping into our

          3  waterways, littering that happens on the City

          4  streets due to the New York City's combined sewer

          5  system, eventually makes its way into the waterways

          6  as well, and we would like to see some action taken

          7  on sort of general littering in the City. Okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

          9                 Ms. Hofmann.

         10                 MS. HOFMANN: Hello. My name is Laura

         11  Hofmann. I'm a lifelong Queens Point resident, and

         12  I'm very active in environmental waterfront and

         13  parks issues in my community. I'm a Board member of

         14  several such organizations, including the Newtown

         15  Creek Alliance. I'm co-founder of Barge Park Pals

         16  and a board member of our mother organization, the

         17  Greenpoint Waterfront Association for Parks and

         18  Planning. I'm representing them today.

         19                 We strongly support increased

         20  penalties for dumping in our precious waterways. Our

         21  community, including organizations I represent

         22  today, have been fighting to improve environmental

         23  conditions for a very long time. Illegal dumping

         24  greatly contributes to unhealthy conditions of our

         25  waters and surrounding community, and it needs to

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2  stop.

          3                 Greenpoint has often witnessed

          4  illegal dumping. I have witnessed it. However, you

          5  don't need to see it to be aware that it's

          6  happening. The fishers and crabbers at Manhattan

          7  Avenue and Newtown Creek are always pulling up

          8  wooden crates, bicycles, shopping carts and so on.

          9  They pull up more disturbing items, such as empty

         10  drums, unmarked containers and medical waste.

         11                 There are larger levels of dumping

         12  going on, as well, which has become even more

         13  evident to me during working both tours with

         14  RiverKeeper and Urban Divers.

         15                 I'm a co-plaintiff in the case

         16  against Exxon Mobil. During the boat tours, it's

         17  been so sad to view beautiful birds, such as heron,

         18  egret and cormorant living in filth, despite the

         19  condition of the creek, schools of spearing are seen

         20  there. Since a picture speaks louder than words, I'd

         21  like to direct you to a url, where I have photos,

         22  you'll see, of New York City Department of

         23  Sanitation dumping contaminated snow from the former

         24  Greenpoint incinerator site into the Newtown Creek.

         25  That happened last winter.
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          2                 Such illegal dumping by companies and

          3  agencies are usually a strong indicator of other

          4  poor environmental practices.  At the time this

          5  complaint was made, one of Councilman Yassky's reps

          6  helped us address the incident.

          7                 The agency was obviously more

          8  cautious after receiving a call from the

          9  Councilman's office, however, the fact is that the

         10  tools available to stop dumping are very limited.

         11                 Illegal dumpers need much more to get

         12  the message through that these practices are not

         13  acceptable and won't be tolerated.

         14                 Increased fines and stricter

         15  enforcement are just the beginning of the tools that

         16  waterfront communities need to fight illegal

         17  dumping.

         18                 So, not only do we support Intro. No.

         19  500, call for increased fines, but we urge that

         20  other strict enforcement measures are also brought

         21  into action to protect our waterways and wildlife

         22  habitat, which will also improve the environment of

         23  the surrounding communities.

         24                 I quickly would like to respond to

         25  the first testimony from a community point of view.
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          2                 You just saw firsthand what the

          3  community goes through when reporting illegal

          4  dumping. I've had the experience on numerous

          5  occasions to be bounced around as who the

          6  enforcement agencies are regarding dumping.

          7                 I participate in monthly Newtown

          8  Creek Modern Committee meetings regarding the sewage

          9  treatment upgrade. On a one-to-one conversation with

         10  DEP reps, I know that DEP does not see itself as an

         11  enforcement agency.

         12                 Clearly, enforcement is a key issue

         13  that needs more supervision and coordination. During

         14  this past year when reporting an oil slick in

         15  Newtown Creek, I was bounced from agency to agency,

         16  the Coast Guard, DEC, DEP, and ultimately nothing

         17  was done to address the oil slick. When reporting

         18  serious discharges, it has become evident that

         19  environmental agencies splice it into discharged

         20  versus dumping, and it's always a tug of war on who

         21  should handle it, and the fact is that it just goes

         22  into report Heaven.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Heaven is a

         24  little complimentary. But thank you for your

         25  testimony.
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          2                 If there's anyone else in the

          3  audience who is expecting to testify, please make

          4  your presence known to the Sergeant-At-Arms, and

          5  there's a very simple little form that they will ask

          6  you to complete.

          7                 I have a question for I guess Mr.

          8  Seggos and Ms. Crimmens, Mr. Balan about your -- you

          9  each referred to seeing what you believe to be

         10  instances of pollution, reporting them to state,

         11  we'll get to the state in a second, but just the

         12  City I want to focus on.

         13                 Ms. Crimmens, who in the City have

         14  you reported to, DEP?

         15                 MS. CRIMMENS: DEP, yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Never DSBS?

         17                 MS. CRIMMENS: No. No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         19                 Mr. Seggos, you have made some

         20  reports to DSBS. Also to DEP or just to DSBS?

         21                 MR. SEGGOS: We've reported CSO

         22  discharges during dry weather to DEP, but that's it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         24                 MR. SEGGOS: That's our understanding

         25  of their jurisdiction.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I understand.

          3  Okay.

          4                 And Mr. Balan, your reports have gone

          5  to who?

          6                 MR. BALAN: Also DEP. In fact, we have

          7  much of a closer relationship with DEP, because we

          8  work along with the harbor monitors as well on the

          9  specific project to test some advanced electronic

         10  equipment.

         11                 So, we report this all the time. Now,

         12  when you call their number actually to report a

         13  runoff, you get the PR office.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Mr. Seggos, I

         15  understand that you feel that the response you've

         16  gotten from DSBS has been good. Have they ever, in

         17  the months that you've reported things to them, have

         18  they ever said to you, at least some kind of illegal

         19  discharge are not our area, rather they're DEP?

         20                 MR. SEGGOS: No, never.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Because I

         22  will tell you this. I feel that the performance of

         23  the Administration at this hearing was absolutely

         24  disgraceful, and it makes me very worried about

         25  their response to the problems of illegal dumping in
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          2  general.

          3                 I mean, it may be that all the

          4  enforcers who are out there working hard against

          5  illegal dumping are somewhere else today and

          6  couldn't manage to show up, but what I suspect is

          7  the case is that they just simply aren't out there,

          8  and the truth is that the City isn't doing a thing

          9  to prevent the illegal dumping that all of you have

         10  testified to today.

         11                 Now, I want to focus for a second on

         12  the state, because they're the ones who ought to be

         13  handing out these fines certainly. What is your

         14  response then, Mr. Seggos? Are you able to find out,

         15  if you say it looks to us like there is industrial

         16  waste flowing directly into the East River, or into

         17  Jamaica Bay, or whatever it is, are you able to find

         18  out if there's any enforcement action following up

         19  on that?

         20                 MR. SEGGOS: Well, I guess I should

         21  just echo the comments for starters of my

         22  co-panelists here.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Could you use the

         24  microphone? I'm sorry.

         25                 MR. SEGGOS: The fact that we report
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          2  something, after idle in the middle of the river for

          3  an hour or two before they even arrive, so for

          4  starters, it's difficult to know whether or not the

          5  problem is ever being addressed beyond the fact that

          6  it's just being entered as a complaint number.

          7                 And then after that, to actually find

          8  a staff member, a staff member associated with that

          9  particular problem, entails exactly what Laura was

         10  talking about, getting bounced around the different

         11  offices until you find somebody who can tell you

         12  that we investigated and there was nothing.

         13                 Well, they investigated, they found

         14  nothing because they came late. So, I think that

         15  there's an inherent problem in the state, again,

         16  with their lack of resources, and the lack of

         17  coordination between the various agencies to address

         18  specific problems.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Absolutely. And I

         20  would tell committee members, it is my intention

         21  this afternoon to send off information request

         22  letters, both to State DEC and to the City DEP, and

         23  let me say, by the way, for the record, I want my

         24  colleagues to know that we invited DEC to testify

         25  here today, of course, and they declined to.
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          2                 But I will be spiraling off today

          3  information requests about how many complaints

          4  they've received and how many enforcement actions

          5  have they taken as a result by which I mean fines or

          6  other binding orders. And I will get that

          7  information to you, my colleagues, as soon as we

          8  receive it.

          9                 MR. SEGGOS: Councilman Yassky, you

         10  mentioned sending off Freedom of Information

         11  requests. Well, that's in fact what we have to do in

         12  some cases to find out whether or not there was ever

         13  follow-up to any of our complaints. We have to send

         14  in a Freedom of Information request which can take

         15  anywhere between one and three months.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, if you've

         17  submitted 30, 50, if you've submitted 50 requests

         18  over a period of a year, year and a half, you have

         19  no idea if there were zero fines, ten fines, 50

         20  fines? You just don't know because they won't tell

         21  you?

         22                 MR. SEGGOS: Most of the time, yes.

         23  And quite frankly, I just don't have the resources

         24  in RiverKeeper to follow-up on all of those

         25  complaints. We do that but most of our work is, in
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          2  fact, just taking these cases on ourselves, and

          3  working with either Council members or other

          4  prosecutors to resolve these problems. We've found

          5  that's more effective in the absence of this very

          6  weak enforcement scheme.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm just curious

          8  if you notice a difference, I have no idea if there

          9  is or not, but because you do work, not just in the

         10  City but also in the Upstate, have you noticed any

         11  difference in enforcement time and enforcement

         12  ability in north, in the Hudson River north of here?

         13                 MR. SEGGOS: I would say that based on

         14  our experience there is a difference between the

         15  various regions.

         16                 We've been more active in the Upstate

         17  regions for more years. We've developed actually

         18  working relationships with the regional attorneys

         19  and engineers. We're actually able to track the

         20  results of our complaints to them, but the

         21  follow-through, I would say, is across the board the

         22  same, diminished resources and very weak consent

         23  orders typically on cases that, you know, amount

         24  after a thousand of them, to a substantial problem

         25  for the Hudson.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Gioia.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair. And thank you for having this very important

          6  hearing and for all the work you do for the

          7  waterfront and for the environment.

          8                 I shouldn't say I'm surprised by

          9  RiverKeeper's testimony that you can't actually find

         10  out how many complaints or fines have been levied

         11  without tremendous effort.

         12                 You mentioned the broken windows, and

         13  I think it's appropriate to do so. The other part of

         14  broken windows was COMPSTAT, which we've seen, not

         15  only has it worked here in New York but it's worked

         16  now in Baltimore and Philadelphia and New Orleans,

         17  and they're trying it in Los Angeles and other

         18  places, and what it is is a fancy name for just

         19  better management, and making data and putting it

         20  public and doing the metrics every single month to

         21  see, to identify trends and identify the best places

         22  to put resources.

         23                 And I'll tell you, in practice, just

         24  being out there, I mean I was at a town hall in

         25  Woodside two weeks ago, and a guy got up and said
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          2  there were 16 muggings on 61st Street and Roosevelt

          3  Avenue, and the Captain got up and said, sir, with

          4  all due respect, there have been 16 muggings in this

          5  neighborhood in a year. So, it's actually not

          6  accurate. There was one, it was this date, let me

          7  tell you what it was and let me tell you what we're

          8  doing about it.

          9                 And, so, it's every empowering to

         10  say, look, here is exactly what's happening. And

         11  from a citizens' point of view, if you're not going

         12  to that meeting and having an actual Captain of that

         13  precinct tell you that, I can log on a computer

         14  right now and tell you how many cars were stolen in

         15  Bayside. It's outrageous that I can't log onto that

         16  same computer and find out how much was dumped, or

         17  how many fines have been levied to people who have

         18  dumped in Long Island City.

         19                 And the truth is, because we have

         20  done such a good job at fighting crime, I am certain

         21  that there have been more people dumping in Long

         22  Island City than steeling cars. And I think that,

         23  and I'm kind of getting around to the question, but

         24  as you know --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: This is all good.
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          2  Keep going.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: We're in a

          4  different stage now in our City's history, in terms

          5  of how we need to fight crime. And to me, as you and

          6  I have already discussed, what's happening to our

          7  environment is a crime in progress. And not only do

          8  we need a better reporting mechanism, but we need to

          9  have assurance that when we do report it, that's

         10  it's being acted upon, and I think the way to do

         11  that is not only with the new Yassky bill, but also

         12  by really making sure Government is providing this

         13  information in a way that you can log onto the

         14  computer and actually see that so that sunlight can

         15  be shined on this process.

         16                 And thank you for your graciousness,

         17  Mr. Chair, in allowing me just to get on my soapbox

         18  and not actually have to do it in an Alex Triback

         19  (phonetic) form.

         20                 So, thank you very much. And thank

         21  all of you for the work you do in protecting our

         22  environment.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I say this quite

         24  genuinely, Council Member Gioia, that it is always a

         25  pleasure, truly, to hear your thoughts on how
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          2  government can be operating better. Because there's

          3  always four, five great nuggets in every statement.

          4  So, I thank you for those.

          5                 I will tell you also, my colleagues,

          6  that my staff informs me, as always they are well

          7  ahead of me, in fact we did on November 1st, 2004,

          8  that would be 28 days ago, ask DEP for the number of

          9  fines and enforcement actions for illegal dumping --

         10  DEC. I apologize, DEC. The City DEC agency. A woman

         11  named Ruth Earl was the recipient of this request.

         12  We apparently have not had a response, despite

         13  follow-up phone calls, you won't be shocked to

         14  learn, Council Member Gioia.

         15                 So, I will tell you that I will be

         16  calling the Commissioner, or the Acting Commissioner

         17  today and saying that if we do not have a response

         18  to this letter within the next couple of weeks, I'm

         19  going to ask for a subpoena, for the Council to

         20  subpoena this information, because it is

         21  unacceptable to come to a hearing on illegal dumping

         22  without the most basic of information about what has

         23  been done on this. And I will absolutely let you

         24  know as soon as we get that information.

         25                 On the specific --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Mr. Chair?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'm sorry. I

          5  think that's appropriate, and I think we should do

          6  that. What that raises to me is that we wouldn't

          7  accept at any other branch of government at this

          8  point. I mean, if the Police Department wouldn't

          9  tell you how many cars are stolen, give me a break,

         10  I mean you have to tell us, and they've done such a

         11  wonderful job that we don't have to even ask

         12  anymore, they tell us every single month what's

         13  happening in every single precinct in the entire

         14  City.

         15                 And it's this stonewalling and

         16  reluctance to share information that really is at

         17  bottom I think part of the problem here. And I thank

         18  you, again, for really responding.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Look. I don't

         20  like to say people are doing a bad job without

         21  having all the facts. But without the facts, what

         22  can I do but assume we are not doing a thing, that

         23  the City isn't doing anything to prevent illegal

         24  dumping.

         25                 You know, maybe there's a great story
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          2  to be told, but I guess I've got to believe that if

          3  there was a good story to be told, they would have

          4  been here today telling that story. So, what can I

          5  do but assume that the facts of the matter are facts

          6  that New Yorkers would be very unhappy to learn

          7  about. So, let's try and unearth that.

          8                 Just on these specific couple of

          9  cases, Mr. Seggos, that you talked about in your

         10  testimony. The cement plants, for example. Have you

         11  gotten any feedback as to whether there's been any

         12  enforcement here?

         13                 MR. SEGGOS: We haven't gotten any

         14  feedback per se, but we've actually seen some

         15  results on at least one of the discharges that we

         16  originally saw back in 2002, the sort of liquid

         17  cement from a secret pipe off-site. As to the sort

         18  of gravel beach that has been created by one of the

         19  cement plants?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.

         21                 MR. SEGGOS: That still exists. And

         22  you can actually see it low tide. The barges that

         23  come up to the facility can't get too close to the

         24  facility. They're on an angle because of the beach.

         25  And the cranes, the clam shell cranes, when they off
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          2  load the barge, have cascading gravel into the

          3  waterway. So, slowly the conditions on Newtown Creek

          4  are similar to what Ludger was explaining on the

          5  Gowanus, when you have the aggregate choking out of

          6  the creek.

          7                 MR. BALAN: These photographs were

          8  taken in November of 2004.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you.

         10  Again, I want to thank all four people, not only for

         11  your testimony, which has been extremely

         12  enlightening, but you're doing the work that

         13  honestly I think New Yorkers expect that their

         14  government is doing, and they have a right to expect

         15  that, the government should be doing this work.

         16                 Thankfully, there is usually somebody

         17  out there who is doing that, and that's you.

         18                 My commitment is that I'm going to do

         19  as best I can to get you the help that you need,

         20  and, frankly, that's to have the government take

         21  some of the burden off of your shoulders, because

         22  they're the people that really ought to be doing it.

         23                 Well, if there's nobody else to be

         24  heard today, I will close the hearing.

         25                 I thank you again for your testimony
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          2  and for the work you do, and I will assure you that

          3  we will be following up and keep you informed on

          4  that.

          5                 The hearing is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 29th day of November 2004.
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         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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